NATIONAL GRIEVANCE
NG-10/17/22
Date: October, 17 2022
To:

Denise Biaggi-Ayer
Executive Director
Office of Labor-Management Relations
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs
810 Vermont Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20420
Denise.biaggi-ayer@va.gov
Sent via electronic mail only

From: Alec Summerfield, Staff Counsel, National Veterans Affairs Council (#53) (“NVAC”),
American Federation of Government Employees, AFL-CIO (“AFGE”)
RE:

National Grievance against the Department of Veterans Affairs for violating law and
contract by failing to bargain regarding VISN 10 Veterans Transportation System
Performance Standards
STATEMENT OF CHARGES

Pursuant to the provisions of Article 43, Section 11 of the Master Agreement Between the
Department of Veterans Affairs and the American Federation of Government Employees (2011)
(“MCBA”), American Federation of Government Employees/National Veterans Affairs Council
(“the Union”) is filing this National Grievance against you and all other associated officials and/or
individuals acting as agents on behalf of the Agency for unilaterally implementing a new
performance standards for current Veterans Transportation System (“VTS”) employees at the VA
Northern Indiana Health Care System (“VANIHCS”). To date, VA has failed to remedy this
violation, and as such, continues to violate policy, contract, government-wide regulations, and law.
Specifically, the VA violated Articles 2, 3, 47, 49, and the Duration of Agreement clause
of the MCBA, a December 19, 2019 Memorandum of Understanding, 5 U.S.C. § 7116(a), and any
and all other relevant articles, laws, regulations, and past practices not herein specified. The Union
specifically reserves the right to supplement this grievance based upon the discovery of new
evidence or information of which it is not presently aware, or otherwise, as necessary.
STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Background
Articles 47 and 49 of the MCBA require that the Department provide reasonable advance
notice to the Union prior to changing conditions of employment of bargaining unit employees as
to provide the Union with sufficient information for the purpose of exercising its full right to
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bargain. Notices of changes impacting two or more VA Locals requires notice to NVAC. See
Article 47 Section 4. The MCBA language is meant to prevent the Department from unilaterally
changing an employee’s conditions of employment, such as performance plans, elements, and
standards, without first notifying the Union and bargaining, if requested. The Federal Service
Labor-Management Relations Statute (Statute) similarly provides that an agency must notify and
bargain in good faith with labor unions prior to changing conditions of employment. Furthermore,
the parties executed an MOU that explicitly requires the Agency fill new VTS positions in
accordance with the MCBA. Exhibit A. The MOU also requires the parties to bargain all changes
in working conditions for VTS employees. See Exhibit A Preamble; See Exhibit A at ¶3, ¶18.
Nonetheless, VISN 10 Human Resources Specialist, Tim Turner, provided AFGE Locals
1020 and 1384 with notice of the implementation of new performance elements for several VTS
positions. Exhibit B. The new performance elements were for VTS Coordinators, VTS Drivers,
and BT Clerks. Exhibit C. These performance elements were never bargained prior to
implementation, nor did the Union received prior notice of the changes. This development came
as a surprise to the affected AFGE Locals and NVAC, especially considering that the 2019 MOU
required that VTS Driver and VTS Coordinator position descriptions be nationalized.
As required by the MCBA and Statute, any new or changed performance plan would be
submitted to the Union, along with a copy of the current performance plan and position description,
as well as “any and all information and/or material relied upon to propose the change(s) in
conditions of employment.” See Article 49, Section 4. However, none of this was provided to
NVAC as to satisfy bargaining obligations. Consequently, the Union never had the opportunity to
review these changes and demand mid-term bargaining.
Violations
By refusing to negotiate in good faith with the Union prior to implementing new position
descriptions at the VISN level for VANIHCS VTS employees, the Department committed an
unfair labor practice under 5 U.S.C. § 7116(a)(5).
Additionally, Article 2 of the MCBA requires that the Department comply with applicable
federal statutes and regulations in the administration of matters covered by the MCBA. Therefore,
in violating 5 U.S.C. § 7116, the Department also violated Article 2.
Further, Article 3 encourages the parties to maintain a cooperative labor-management
relationship that is based on mutual respect, open communication, consideration of each other’s
views, and minimizing collective bargaining disputes. By failing to consult with the Union before
implementing a new performance element for VTS employees, the Department renounced its
commitments under Article 3 of the MCBA and triggered further collective bargaining disputes.
The Department also violated Articles 47, 49, a December 2019 MOU, and the Duration
of Agreement clause of the MCBA, which sets forth the parties’ mid-term bargaining obligations
at the national level.
Remedy Requested
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The Union asks that to remedy the above situation, the VA agree to the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

To cease and desist the implementation of the new performance elements for VTS
employees at VANIHCS until its bargaining obligations under the MCBA are met.
To fully comply with its contractual obligations under Articles 2, 3, 47, and 49 of the
MCBA, and its statutory obligations under 5 U.S.C. § 7116(a).
To distribute an electronic notice posting signed by the VISN 10 HR Specialist via email,
concerning the Department’s unilateral implementation of changes in conditions of
employment in violation of the MCBA and federal law;
To return to status quo ante until bargaining obligations are met;
To make whole any VTS employee adversely affected by the unilateral implementation of
the new performance elements.
To comply with its obligations under federal law, regulations, and contract;
To agree to any and all other remedies appropriate in this matter.

Time Frame and Contact
This is a National Grievance, and the time frame for resolution of this matter is not waived
until the matter is resolved or settled. If you have any questions, please contact the undersigned
at AFGE Office of the General Counsel. The undersigned representative is designated to represent
the Union in all matters related to the subject of this National Grievance.

Alec Summerfield
Staff Counsel, National VA Council
Office of the General Counsel
American Federation of Government Employees, AFL-CIO
80 F Street, NW
Washington, DC 20001
tel: 202.639.6424
efax: 202.379.2928
alec.summerfield@afge.org

cc:

Alma L. Lee, President, AFGE/NVAC
William Wetmore, Chairperson, Grievance and Arbitration Committee, AFGE/NVAC
Thomas Dargon, Jr., Supervisory Attorney, AFGE/NVAC
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EXHIBIT A

EXHIBIT B

From: Turner, Timothy R. <Timothy.Turner1@va.gov>
Sent: Tuesday, September 13, 2022 12:28 PM
To: Pennington, Tony R. <tony.pennington@va.gov>; Clapp, Eric <Eric.Clapp@va.gov>; Adams,
Gwendolyn <Gwendolyn.Adams2@va.gov>
Subject: New Performance Elements for FY23 from VTS
Good Afternoon,
Attached are the new Performance Elements for FY 2023 from VTS.

Tim Turner
Human Resources Specialist
VISN 10 – Serving Indiana, Michigan, and Ohio
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, Veterans’ Health Administration
Marion, IN 46953
Phone: (765) 674-3321 ext: 75841
Work Cell: (765) 251-5836

EXHIBIT C

VTS DRIVER
Element 1: Customer Service *
a. Maintains confidentiality of information and disclosure is limited to a need‐to‐know basis.
b. Projects professional image and develops and maintains effective working relationships with customers and staff
to create and enhance trust and credibility.
c. Responds to managers, supervisors, employees and unions within two (2) workdays of verbal or written request
or sooner if the issue is time sensitive.
d. Demonstrates “ICARE” in all interactions (face‐to‐face, telephone and email) with Veterans, visitors and co‐
workers, and delivers service to the highest level possible with accuracy. Emphasis on advocacy, dignity and
respect.
e. Demonstrates courtesy and respect to Veterans, visitors and co‐workers in face‐to‐face, telephonic and email
communications; interactions will reflect helpfulness and compassion in the employee’s demeanor, facial
expressions and appearance, providing a high level of sensitivity to human needs.
f. Communicates honestly and clearly with customers regarding changes, cancellations and/or updates in products
or programs, or any service delivery issue either through face‐to‐face interaction, telephone or e‐mail. When
unable to contact the Veteran prior to pick up contact the Lead.
g. Ensures the timely follow‐through on responses, open items, requests, actions, or feedback to patients, visitors
and co‐workers; addresses concerns and issues by demonstrating action and delivering as committed or
expressed (elevates concerns/issues through the proper chain of command as needed).
Satisfactory
1‐2 incidents of patient PII being unsecured
receives 3‐5 validated complaints about service provided to veterans during a rating period
10‐19 incidents of veterans missing a ride due to lack of verification call
1‐2 validated incidents of patient complaints
Exceptional
zero incidents of patient PII being unsecured
receives 0‐2 validated complaints about service provided to veterans during rating period
1‐9 incidents of veteran missing a ride due to lack of verification call
All positive patient feedbacks

Element 2: Organizational Support
a.
b.
c.
d.

Strives to improve the quality and timeliness of support services rendered to our customers.
Committed to maintaining a facility infrastructure that will allow the medical center to provide the highest
quality of care to our patients and allow for growth and program expansion.
Participates in Team meetings and provides constructive input on actions or discussions
Timely completion of TMS Courses

Fully Successful:
Completes assigned training tasks in no more than 30 days of due date
No more than 2 instances of mandatory training not completed by due date.
Exceptional:
Completes all training elements & TMS modules prior to due date.
Is proactive in searching out appropriate educational credits.
Volunteers to participate in at least one special assignment or duty during the reporting period. (ie, interviews,
details or special assignments)

Element 3: Results‐driven
Description: Specific performance results are expected from the employee during the appraisal period and where
applicable, reflect key opportunities for improvement that support VISN and facility measures relevant to VHA
Modernization, identified in authoritative VA reporting and analytic systems (i.e., SAIL or its components), Access,
ChooseVA, or the Five Secretary/Under Secretary priorities. VISN and facility measures include safe and effective
care, efficiency, quality, costs, Veteran experience, homelessness, mental health, and the VA Choice Act.
Fully Successful:
Active participant in one initiative geared toward achieving annual unit and divisional goals.
Completes projects according to established timelines and requirements.
Demonstrates ability to identify issues, present alternatives, and creative solutions
Exceptional: (meets FS and below)
Volunteers to lead initiatives resulting in development of useful tools and/or processes
Initiates and/or leads projects and develops ideas that advance mission and vision

Element 4. ADTP/Information Security Description: * ADTP/Information Security: Motor
Vehicle Operator, VTS
Information Security: In the performance of duties, the employee has regular access to printed and electronic files
containing sensitive patient information (PII). In accordance with the privacy act of 1974, federal regulations, and
other applicable laws the employee is responsible for:
1.
2.

The protection and safe keeping of patient information from unauthorized release, loss, disclosure, or
deletion.
Following applicable regulations governing access to computerized files and information, regularly
maintains security over documentation to prevent unauthorized disclosure, removal, or deletion.

Fully successful:
No more than one instance of any of the following:
Shares patient information or access code to the computerized electronic system.
Leaves computer unattended while logged on to sites with sensitive information.
Abuses internet privileges or mishandles patient information
Exceptional:
Never shares patient information or access code to the computerized electronic system.
Never leaves computer unattended while logged on to sites with sensitive information.
Never abuses internet privileges or mishandles patient information
Completes all TMS modules on time pertaining to patient information and government ethics.
Actively polices the unit area to ensure no computers are left unattended while logged in to, regularly alerts the
supervisor to unsafe conditions or problem areas of access or protection.

Element 5: Patient Transportation *
Description: Safely transports veterans in a government vehicle by ensuring the vehicle is serviceable. The veteran
is safely loaded, any restraints required are installed, proper PPE used and then unloaded. Warm hand offs are
conducted within accordance of the VTS office SOP and tablet usage for Vetride is properly maintained.
Fully Successful:
Passengers are loaded, strapped with proper safety equipment, and unloaded with no more than 1 incident of at
fault passenger safety events
Uses Vetride tablet with 25 or less incorrect trip updates
Exceptional:
Passengers are loaded, strapped with proper safety equipment, and unloaded with no issues of passenger safety
events
Uses VetRide tablet with 24 or less incorrect trip updates
Participates in at least one activity that allows the medical center or the department to improve the quality of care
to our patients and allows for growth and program expansion.

Element 6: Daily Operations and accountability *
Description:
a. Properly documents riders on manifests either paper or electronic
b. Participate in operational tasks that improve the overall image and operations of the department
i.
Help in modifying or adapting routes to patient related issues
ii.
Provide input on complaints or problems presented by patients
iii.
Provide ideas for improving the operations of the fleet vehicles
iv.
Keep vehicle fleet in a safe and effective status for all operational tasks
c. Utilize and maintain issued uniforms.
d. Maintain daily logs for vehicle. VA Form 3075
e. Maintain and turn in end of month reports, to the VTS Office
f. Account for all government issued equipment (Gas Card, Keys, Tablet, AED and phone)
g. Keep vehicle in a clean, sanitized and ready for driving
h. Report accidents and incidents (IAW VA Policies and directives)
Fully Successful
Driver has daily logs (paper or electronic) complete and up to date within one day of use.
Driver has end of month report done by 3rd working day of month after the current month ends
Driver has all receipts for use of GSA fuel card and has no more than 3 missing over rating period
Driver has one instance of lack of accountability of any equipment
Vehicle is found to be dirty, has trash past the current day and lacks required PPE for driver and passenger. No
more than three times during the rating period.
Exceptional
Driver has daily logs (paper or electronic) complete and up to date daily.
Driver has end of month report done by 1st working day of month after the current month ends
Driver has all receipts for use of GSA fuel card
Driver has 100% accountability of all government equipment issued.
Driver will sanitize vehicle after each trip, schedule car wash for cleanliness
Driver has no incidents of failure to report any incident, accident or other happening other than a normal transport
to management as soon as safe to do so.
Driver utilizes only VTS issued uniforms during the rating period.

BT Clerks
1.*CUSTOMER SERVICE- (critical)
a. Maintains confidentiality of information and disclosure is limited to a need‐to‐know basis.
b. Projects professional image and develops and maintains effective working relationships with
customers and staff to create and enhance trust and credibility.
c. Responds to managers, supervisors, employees and unions within two (2) workdays of verbal or
written request or sooner if the issue is time sensitive.
d. Demonstrates “ICARE” in all interactions (face‐to‐face, telephone and email) with Veterans, visitors
and co‐workers, and delivers service to the highest level possible with accuracy. Emphasis on
advocacy, dignity and respect.
e. Demonstrates courtesy and respect to Veterans, visitors and co‐workers in face‐to‐face, telephonic
and email communications; interactions will reflect helpfulness and compassion in the employee’s
demeanor, facial expressions and appearance, providing a high level of sensitivity to human needs.
f. Communicates honestly and clearly with customers regarding changes, cancellations and/or updates
in products or programs, or any service delivery issue either through face‐to‐face interaction,
telephone or e‐mail.
g. Ensures the timely follow‐through on responses, open items, requests, actions, or feedback to
patients, visitors and co‐workers; addresses concerns and issues by demonstrating action and
delivering as committed or expressed (elevates concerns/issues through the proper chain of
command as needed).
Fully Successful –
No more than 2 validated occurrences of noncompliance with any of the above performance elements
during the rating period.
Exceptional –
No validated occurrence with any of the above performance elements during the rating period
2.*Claims Processing BTSSS - (critical)
a. Correctly identifies the closest facility for BT mileage reimbursement in claims processing as
determined by monthly auditing
b. Correctly identifies BT mileage reimbursement eligibility in claims processing as determined by
monthly auditing
c. Coordinates with other services and clinics, as appropriate, to establish the mode of travel used by
beneficiaries for the authorized processing of BT claims as determined by monthly auditing
d. Completes an average of 35 or more BT claims per day as determined by monthly auditing.
(calculated by taking total claims processed divided by the number of working days in the period)
e. Assigned claims processed within seven days of receipt.
Fully successfulNo more than twelve instances of non-compliance of elements a, b, or c; No more than three instances
of element d as determined by monthly auditing during the rating and no more than three months of
any instances of non-compliance with element e.
ExceptionalNo more than six instances of non-compliance of elements a, b, or c; No instances of element d as
determined by monthly auditing during the rating period and no instances of non-compliance with
element e.

3. *AMBULANCE BILLING: (critical)
a. Follows all applicable Laws, Codes, and Policies in payment Authorizations
b. Completes all claims within seven days of date/time stamped receipt or receives approved
justification from supervisor indicating why the claim cannot be completed within seven days of receipt.
c. Follows all applicable Laws, Codes, and Policies in claims denials.
d. Coordinates with Internal & External customers in resolving issues or concerns with ambulance bill
payments.
Fully successfulNo more than twelve instances of non-compliance as determined by monthly auditing during the rating
ExceptionalNo more than six instances of non-compliance as determined by monthly auditing during the rating
period
4. PERFORMANCE IMPROVEMENT- (non-critical)
Participates in quality/performance improvement activities that result in one or more of the following:
self-improvement, improved patient care, or improved services.
Fully Successful:
Four occurrences within the rating period
Exceptional:
Six or more occurrences within the rating period
5. Results‐driven (non-critical)
Specific performance results are expected from the employee during the appraisal period and where
applicable, reflect key opportunities for improvement that support VISN and facility measures relevant
to VHA Modernization, identified in authoritative VA reporting and analytic systems (i.e., SAIL or its
components), Access, ChooseVA, or the Five Secretary/Under Secretary priorities. VISN and facility
measures include safe and effective care, efficiency, quality, costs, Veteran experience, homelessness,
mental health, and the VA Choice Act.
Fully Successful:

Active participant in one initiative geared toward achieving annual unit and divisional goals.
Completes projects according to established timelines and requirements.
Demonstrates ability to identify issues, present alternatives, and creative solutions

Exceptional:

Volunteers to lead initiatives resulting in development of useful tools and/or processes
Initiates and/or leads projects and develops ideas that advance mission and vision

6. Information Security/GEMS- (non-critical)
a. Protects printed and electronic files containing sensitive data in accordance with the Privacy Act of
1974 and other VA policies/guidelines

b. Follow applicable regulations and instruction regarding in access to computerized files, release of
access codes according to computer access agreement.
c. Follows all policies and procedures to ensure compliance with all applicable environmental regulations
and requirements.
Fully Successful - No more than one occurrence of noncompliance with the above performance
elements during the rating period.
Exceptional - No occurrences of noncompliance with the above performance elements during the rating
period.

VTS Coordinator
1.*CUSTOMER SERVICE- (critical)
a. Maintains confidentiality of information and disclosure is limited to a need‐to‐know basis.
b. Projects professional image and develops and maintains effective working relationships with
customers and staff to create and enhance trust and credibility.
c. Responds to managers, supervisors, employees and unions within two (2) workdays of verbal or
written request or sooner if the issue is time sensitive.
d. Demonstrates “ICARE” in all interactions (face‐to‐face, telephone and email) with Veterans, visitors
and co‐workers, and delivers service to the highest level possible with accuracy. Emphasis on
advocacy, dignity and respect.
e. Demonstrates courtesy and respect to Veterans, visitors and co‐workers in face‐to‐face, telephonic
and email communications; interactions will reflect helpfulness and compassion in the employee’s
demeanor, facial expressions and appearance, providing a high level of sensitivity to human needs.
f. Communicates honestly and clearly with customers regarding changes, cancellations and/or updates
in products or programs, or any service delivery issue either through face‐to‐face interaction,
telephone or e‐mail.
g. Ensures the timely follow‐through on responses, open items, requests, actions, or feedback to
patients, visitors and co‐workers; addresses concerns and issues by demonstrating action and
delivering as committed or expressed (elevates concerns/issues through the proper chain of
command as needed).
Fully Successful - No more than 2 validated occurrences of noncompliance with any of the above
performance elements during the rating period.
Exceptional - No validated occurrence with any of the above performance elements during the rating
period
2. *TRIP COORDINATION/BENEFICIARY TRAVEL- (critical)
a. Coordinates and schedules with appropriate contract vendor, Special Mode Transport service or
Veterans Transportation Service for appropriate means of ground transportation. Maintaining a
minimum of five working days in draft form. Distribution of the initial manifest one full working day
prior to appointments.
b. Manages the review of SMT eligibility and requirements to ensure adherence to BT policies
c. Coordinates with other services and clinics, as appropriate, concerning beneficiary travel issues and
the coordination of transportation.
d. Manages trip assignments effectively ensuring the timeliness of transportation services.
Fully successful- No more than six instances of non-compliance total during the rating period
Exceptional- No more than one instance of non-compliance during the rating period
3. *Scheduling- (critical)
a. Schedules, reschedules, and cancels appointments per Scheduling Guidelines SOP and scheduling
directives.
b. Uses proper documentation in VATAS and or CPRS when scheduling/canceling/or rescheduling
appointments.
c. Follows policies and/or procedures on capturing desired date when scheduling appointments (i.e.
capturing desired date from patient, if not obtainable using provider's desired date)

Fully Successful - No more than 6 occurrences of noncompliance with the above performance elements
during the rating period.
Exceptional - No more than 3 occurrences of noncompliance with the above performance elements
during the rating period.
4. Information Security/GEMS- (non-critical)
a. Protects printed and electronic files containing sensitive data in accordance with the Privacy Act of
1974 and other VA policies/guidelines
b. Follow applicable regulations and instruction regarding in access to computerized files, release of
access codes according to computer access agreement.
c. Follows all policies and procedures to ensure compliance with all applicable environmental regulations
and requirements.
Fully Successful - No more than 1 occurrence of noncompliance with the above performance elements
during the rating period.
Exceptional - No occurrences of noncompliance with the above performance elements during the rating
period.
5. Results‐driven (non-critical)
Specific performance results are expected from the employee during the appraisal period and where
applicable, reflect key opportunities for improvement that support VISN and facility measures relevant
to VHA Modernization, identified in authoritative VA reporting and analytic systems (i.e., SAIL or its
components), Access, ChooseVA, or the Five Secretary/Under Secretary priorities. VISN and facility
measures include safe and effective care, efficiency, quality, costs, Veteran experience, homelessness,
mental health, and the VA Choice Act.
Fully Successful:

Active participant in one initiative geared toward achieving annual unit and divisional goals.
Completes projects according to established timelines and requirements.
Demonstrates ability to identify issues, present alternatives, and creative solutions

Exceptional: (meets FS and below)

Volunteers to lead initiatives resulting in development of useful tools and/or processes
Initiates and/or leads projects and develops ideas that advance mission and vision

6. PERFORMANCE IMPROVEMENT- (non-critical)
Participates in quality/performance improvement activities that result in one or more of the following:
self-improvement, improved patient care, or improved services.
Fully Successful: Four occurrences within the rating period
Exceptional: Six or more occurrences within the rating period

